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Richard Goldstone

Alright. Well, we, we, we’re back in the session in the afternoon of the first of two days of further public hearings. And the, the next witness is Mr. Shir Hever, who is speaking to us by video conference, uh, from, from Israel. He’s an economist with that Alternative Information Center. Mr., Mr. Hever, welcome back and thank you for taking the time to, uh, to, to speak to us. Can, can, can you hear us clearly?  
Shir Hever
Yes, I can hear you. Thank you.

Richard Goldstone
Good. Well, um, we, we, we have met. So I won’t, I won’t waste time introducing the members of the, of the mission. I think you know as much as necessary about our mission. And I’ll hand straight over to you to introduce yourself and to, and to brief us on the topic, uh, uh, that you want to, uh, to make us aware of.

Shir Hever

Okay. Uh, so my name is, uh, Shir Hever. I am, uh, an economist working for the Alternative Information Center, which is a joint Palestinian-Israeli organization working in, uh, Jerusalem and in, um, Beit Sahour, um, and, uh, reporting about the Israeli occupation of the Palestinian territories. Um, I would like to speak, uh, at this, uh, session on the repression of, uh, dissent. And, uh, the violation of human rights and the right, uh, uh, to protest in Israel by the Israeli authorities of, uh, individuals and organizations that express their, uh, protests, uh, against Israel’s operations in, uh, Gaza, the Gaza Strip. But I would like to start, please, uh, by, by clarifying that even though I will focus mostly on the, um, repression of Israeli dissent, uh, this is not, uh, to, in order to create the, the impression that this was the main violation of human rights, uh, regarding the attack on, on Gaza and, uh, events preceding it and proceeding it.
But, uh, in fact, uh, the main victims, uh, most of the victims of this attack are Palestinians, especially the Palestinians in the Gaza Strip. Uh, and even though by comparison the repression of Israelis was, uh, was, uh, secondary, uh, it is still worth mentioning and, and worth, uh, describing. Um, so due to the nature of the kind of, um, of, of, of session that, that, we have here. I think it would be best, uh, if, uh, even as I’m speaking you will interrupt me and ask me, uh, questions or, or, uh, stop me if I’m starting to say something that other, um, people have already testified about so that I can, uh, best use the time to talk about things that were not mentioned by other speakers.  

Richard Goldstone

If, if, if there’s any, if there’s anything-

Shir Hever
Let me-

Richard Goldstone
During your testimony, we’ll, we’ll come in but only for clarification. I think, I think it may be better if we keep our questions ‘til the end.

Shir Hever

Very well. Okay. So I will, uh, try to, to, uh, keep my presentation short, uh, in order to leave more time in the end for, for, uh, uh, whatever questions, uh, whatever you would like, uh, to elaborate on. Um, so, let me start by saying that, uh, even though, uh, the vast majority of the Israeli, Jewish-Israeli public in Israel did support the attack on Gaza, uh, and supported the use of violence against Palestinians in Gaza, uh, this was the popular, uh, sentiment in Israel but it didn’t represent the entirety of, uh, the opinions, uh, of the Israelis and especially of Israelis who are not Jews. 
Uh, 22 percent of Israel’s population, uh, are Palestinians, in fact. Uh, and even though they are Israeli citizens, uh, they, uh, are not treated with, uh, the same, uh, equality and the same rights that Jew, Jewish citizens receive. Uh, and the protests that, uh, these people, both Palestinians and Jews, uh, expressed regarding Israel’s attack was, uh, very limited by the Israeli authorities. There were over 800 arrests of demonstrators. Uh, almost all of them were, were Palestinian demonstrators, uh, Palestinian citizens of Israel. And very few Jewish Israelis were arrested as well. Um, the police cracked down and dispersed by force demonstrations, uh, even if those, uh, were not demonstrations but actually, um, vigils. 
And vigils, uh, don’t require special permit from the police. They also dispersed, uh, demonstrations that did have, a, a, permits from the police,  because, uh, for example, there was a counter demonstration by, uh, right-wing Israelis. So the police decided to crack down on the protestors and to arrest, uh, the demonstrators who were, uh, using their, uh, democratic right to protest. 
Uh, the vast majority of the Palestinians who were arrested, the Palestinian-Israelis who were arrested by the Israeli forces had, uh, been requested by the prosecution to be detained, uh, pending conviction or release, which would mean many months in jail, basically, while they are, uh, while their trial, uh, begins and, uh, starts to proceed. This is not something that is often used, uh, against, uh, uh, protestors. It is usually, uh, something that is intended to keep people who are dangerous, uh, in, in jail while their trial goes on. But, uh, for almost all of the demonstrators who were not Jews, the prosecution asked that these people would be detained pending conviction or release. 
Almost all of these requests were accepted by the Israeli authorities, by the Israeli courts, which means that most, uh, uh, of the demonstrators were, indeed, uh, arrested and kept in jail pending conviction or release. And even today, um, about seven months, uh, since the beginning, over seven months since the beginning of the attack and the beginnings of the arrests, uh, there are still people who are in jail waiting, uh, to be either convicted or released. One of these people arrested is a member of my organization. 
A man who is, uh, despite his, uh, disability, despite the fact that he’s, uh, uh, ______, that he requires, uh, a walking stick to walk; was detained for months and, uh, recently was, uh, transferred to house arrest. Um, and, um, just I, I want to use this as an example of the kinds of arrests that, uh, were, were made during the attacks immediately afterwards. Um, he, he was accused of organizing protests during the attack on Gaza, protests against the attack, uh, in Jerusalem. 
One day after the attacks on Gaza subsided, he was, uh, taken from his home, in 3 a.m. at night, in front of his wife and children, by unidentified security personnel wearing masks to conceal their features. And they took him to jail where he was held for two weeks before he was even, uh, notified what we was accused of.  Unfortunately, this is not the only case of, uh, people who have, uh, been arrested and had their, uh, due procedure denied them, uh, were not given the rights that they, uh, are entitled to. 
Many of the people arrested were denied, uh, the right to confer with an attorney. Many of them suffered from abuse by Israeli policemen, uh, with racist remarks being shouted at them. And, and, uh, and, of course, uh, this is, uh, uh, something that is not, uh, unique in Israel, unfortunately. It is not something completely new. But certainly the extent of the violations of the rights of the detainees was, uh, extremely, uh, high and much higher than, uh, the normal situation in Israel, uh, even towards, uh, occupied Palestinians. 
Um, following the attacks there have also been, uh, an increased number of, uh, secret police investigations of people who are suspected of a political activity and, uh, of, uh, expressing opinions against the attack on Gaza and in favor of the rights of the people, the Palestinians. These people were invited to be interrogated by the Israeli secret police. Uh, in the case of, um, one organization, uh, at least, uh, when people refused to come of their own volition to volunteer to be, uh, interrogated by the secret police, the secret police raided their office, uh, took the people to, to be interrogated by force. 
Um, and, um, also there were a prosecution of, uh, organizations per say, not just of individuals. Which means that several organizations which expressed opinions, for example, opposing Israel’s obligatory conscription laws and, uh, trying to create a space for Israelis who are not, uh, who did not want to go to the army, did not want to enlist the army, and to offer them some kind of support. Uh, these organizations, um, were also prosecuted by the Israeli authorities. Um, the organization, Yish Gvol,for example, uh, had, uh, several of its members interrogated. The organization, New Profile, had seven of its members taken for interrogations. 
Their computers were confiscated. In the demonstrations following those interrogations, a demonstration of solidarity with the New Profile organization police used extreme brutality against the demonstrators and arrested eight of the demonstrators, uh, overnight, uh, after, after beating them up. Um, these series of events are all tied to the attack on Gaza. And the way that they are tied is because there is a growing climate in Israel’s public opinion and especially amongst the Israeli authorities, that the level of accountability that they have to, uh, present to the international community or to the Israeli public itself is very low. 
Uh, following the war in 2006 when Israel, uh, attacked Lebanon, um, Israel began to develop a, a new kind of combination of war, uh, which is both military and diplomatic. During the attack on Lebanon, Israel fought until the point where the international community, uh, intervened and demanded a ceasefire. Uh, with the attack on Gaza, the Israeli authorities, uh, the government expressed their belief that Israel would be only allowed to continue their attack on Gaza until a certain point. 
Uh, and, they, uh, attacked, uh, in, uh, they attacked, uh, Gaza waiting for the international community to intervene at some point and to say that is enough, that is the limit. And this is not just, uh, um, my, my own analysis. It is something that has been discussed in the Israeli media. It was discussed, uh, in the Israeli army. They were trying to plan their attack on Gaza in such a way that they would be able to achieve as much as possible within a limited timeframe that will be defined by the international community. 
But what happened in an unexpected way was that the international community did not intervene. It failed to intervene. Both the United States and the governments of Europe did not set a time limit on Israel’s offenses. They didn’t, uh, demand a ceasefire at any point. And this created a, kind of, um, unexpected turn of events for the Israeli army, for the Israeli authorities, where they felt that they had the ability to continue their attack, um, without, uh, interference and without, uh, accountability. 
And because of that, this created a radicalization of Israeli public opinion towards Palestinians, towards the right to protest, towards, uh, uh, the limits on the use of force, and towards the, um, safeguards of democracy. Uh, because it was seen that, in fact, the international community is no longer, um, a barrier in front of, uh, the Israeli society, then it, uh, it was expected that, uh, Israel would be allowed to get away with even worse acts of violence, with even worse violations of human rights. And because of that, that is one of the main reasons why, uh, in the recent Israeli elections, uh, right-wing government, uh, was elected even more to the right than the previous government. 
People voted for politicians, who expressed openly their desire to violate international law, uh, by expanding settlements, by expelling Israeli citizens and revoking the citizenships of, uh, non-Jewish Israeli citizens pending certain circumstances. And this led to this, um, increasing climate of tolerance in the Israeli public and especially by the Israeli authorities of increasing severe violations of human rights, of civil rights and of, uh, democracy. Um, this is, um, this is – therefore, I would argue that, uh, the various, um, uh, violations that we, uh, we have witnessed in Israeli, uh, against, against protest and against the organizations that, uh, are, uh, of various opinions, uh, that differ from the Israeli mainstream. 
Um, even if the crackdown was not directly linked to the attack on Gaza, in an, in an, uh, open way, it was certainly indirectly linked simply because, um, it was now legitimate to, uh, shut, uh, and to, uh, silence, uh, types of oppression, uh, types of dissent and types of, um, protest that were previously acceptable in Israeli society and previously considered to be part of the, um, leeway allowed by the Israeli, uh, democracy or, um, apparent democracy. I think, um, that I would stop at this point to see if you have any questions or comments before, uh, I am moving on.
Richard Goldstone

Thank, thank you very much Mr. Hever for your, for your interesting submissions and-

Christine Chinkin

Thank you very much, indeed, for that very, um, detailed and careful account of the situation. Could you just, um, explain what law those that are arrested are charged under and the way the, um, legal system is, um, responding to these issues? Thank you.
Shir Hever

I’m, I’m sorry. Um, who is responding? I, I didn’t hear your, the end of your question.

Richard Goldstone

Uh, Professor Chinkin. Did, did you hear the question or do you want her to repeat it?

Shir Hever

I, I heard the first part of the question, under what law, but I didn’t hear the, um, second part of the question. Someone is responding to these, uh, arrests, you mean?

Christine Chinkin

No. How is the legal system responding to the, um, arrests and charges that are being brought?

Shir Hever

Um, okay, so the, the arrests were done under, um, a variety of accusations, uh, and a variety of laws as well. Uh, I believe that most of the arrests, although this has not been, uh, uh, fully confirmed yet within official statistics, but I, but I think it is likely that most of the arrests will be, um, revealed to have been, uh, made under, um, illegal demonstration, accusations of illegal demonstration or disturbing the peace. Uh, the people who were arrested for, uh, conducting legal vigils on, uh, sidewalks, uh, were accused of blocking sidewalks, interfering with traffic. That was, uh, the main, uh, accusation for these people. 
Uh, however, uh, these are not the only types of accusations. There were also accusations of incitement, uh, to hurt Israeli, uh, security personnel. Because, for example, when demonstrators, uh, expressed their opinion that, uh, the Israeli army or the Israeli police are using excessive force, uh, and are, um, uh, killing innocent people in Gaza; uh, then this was interpreted, sometimes, by the Israeli authorities as, um, an incitement against Israeli military personnel or, or police. 
Um, but also the, there is another law in Israeli which makes it illegal to incite to, um, avoid military service. Um, and inciting or even assisting someone to avoid obligatory military service can result in up to five years in jail. And in the case of doing that during wartime, it could result in up to 15 years of jail time. This actually means that even, uh, concerned parents of young Israeli um, teenagers, uh, who were about to be, uh, called for, for military service; if they advise their own children to, uh, find a way to avoid military service – and there are many ways to avoid it – uh, these parents could be theoretically charged um, with, uh, breaking this law and be sent for up to 15 years of, of prison time. 
It should be mentioned that Israel is constantly in a state of emergency and constantly in a state of conflict. So it is always the wartime clause of the law, never, uh, the peacetime clause. Um, but, of course, the law is not often invoked. Uh, it would have, uh, I think, um, um, recent statistics show that about 50 percent of young Israelis actually go to the army. 50 percent, uh, are, uh, find, find a way not to do their military service by various ways. Either they are exempt because of their nationality, because they’re Palestinians or they’re exempt because of their religion, uh, or they, uh, are exempt because, uh, of health problems or because they, uh, pretend to be crazy. 
Uh, but, uh, for but, of course, for, for most of these people who, who don’t do military service the army does not, uh, begin litigation and tries to, to send everyone who has, uh, advised these people not to go to the army, to jail. But in the case of these organizations that I mentioned, uh, especially New Profile but also Yish Gvol,um, these organizations were targeted by the government. And, uh, and the government gave instructions to the police to start a procedure of litigation against these organizations. Because it was an attempt to deter other organizations. And because it was an attempt to redefine the borders of legitimate discourse in Israel.
Richard Goldstone

Is, is this having an affect on the media? On, on, on freedom to express dissent and criticism, investigative reporting? I mean, I’ve always been impressed with the openness of the, of the media in Israel. Is, is there any shift in your, in, uh, in your opinion?

Shir Hever

I think the shift in the, uh, openness of the Israeli media is a, is a slow process that began with the second Intifada with 2001. It is a slow process. Uh, in 2001, uh, it was still possible for Israelis to be informed of, uh, the, at least the gist of the military, uh, operations, uh, conducted by the Israeli forces in occupied in Palestinian territories and even to know how many Palestinians were killed by the Israeli forces in any given month. Um, this has gradually deteriorated even before the attack on Gaza. And, but to the point where, uh, the Israelis, the Israeli public today sometimes has no choice, uh, and no recourse but to, uh, turn to the international media in order to learn about operations of the Israeli army. 
But I think with the attack on Gaza, there was a, a certain noticeable shift in the Israeli media with, uh, the decision of the Israeli government not to allow reporters into the Gaza Strip. Uh, even as international reporters were allowed in, in limited numbers at some point, Israeli reporters were embedded with the Israeli forces and only reported through the point of view of the Israeli army, not from the point of view of the Palestinians. One Israeli reporter that, uh, violated this, uh, decision and tried, uh, to move freely in Gaza in order to interview Palestinians was arrested by the Israeli authorities. 
Uh, two, um, reporters for the Iranian um, news agency were arrested and convicted and received jail sentence in Israel because they had reported the, the, uh, invasion of Israel into Gaza. Because they have simply reported what they saw with their own eyes, the Israeli forces moving into Gaza, that was, uh, considered reason enough for the Israeli authorities to, uh, convict these reporters, uh, and send them to two months in jail. Um, during the attack and also following the attack, most of the, uh, reporting in Israeli media was from the point of view of the Israeli generals, what was approved by the Israeli censorship, uh, and by, uh, the speakers of the Israeli army. 
But it must also be said that after the attack, there was a group of um, courageous, uh, journalists who were willing to report, uh, on the course of the attack from the point of view of, of, Israeli soldiers who were willing to testify to the crimes they have seen, uh, with their own eyes during the attack. And this group of, uh, Israeli journalists discovered several things, for example, that the soldiers testifying that they were encouraged by their commanders to open fire at any movement, even if it is only against civilians. 
Uh, to, uh, shoot to kill anyone who crosses a certain line regardless of, uh, who are the people that they see in their sights. These soldiers reported, uh, how they, uh, vandalized, uh, Palestinians homes in Gaza. They reported how they used, um, weapon, weaponry that, uh, is, uh, illegal to use under international law. And all of these reportings, reportings did appear in the Israeli media. Uh, including, um, the way that Israeli soldiers boasted, uh, of, of the crimes that they committed. Uh, for example, the t-shirts that soldiers printed, um, where they depicted, um, uh, a pregnant woman, uh, a pregnant Palestinian woman with, uh, the sights of a rifle on her, uh, pregnant, uh, belly, and, uh, the line, “One shot, two kills,” uh, to signify how, how soldiers were proud of their uh, of the, of the killings that they, uh, conducted in Gaza, for example, of pregnant women in this particular example. 
Um, however, all of these reports that were published in the Israeli media were published in such a way that the soldiers’ names were kept anonymous. The Israeli media cooperated with the decision of the Israeli um, army to conceal the names of the commanders who commended the operation in Gaza, the attack on Gaza. And, uh, in order to protect them from, uh, possible prosecution, uh, and because of that it was very easy for the Israeli, uh, um, military, uh, attorney service, uh, to conduct an internal investigation and exonerate the Israeli army of any wrongdoing and any war crimes, uh, in record speed. 
Uh, the committee set up by the Israeli army to investigate war crimes completed its deliberations in 11 days, which was half the length of the actual attack on the Gaza Strip. Uh, found that there was no evidence that the Israeli army conducted any war crimes and decided to close the case. Because the media cooperated with the censorship and, uh, uh, agreed to conceal the names of the involved officers, uh, I think the military, uh, um, brass believed that they could, uh, put an end to the investigation with this, uh, internal investigation.

Desmond Travers

Mr. Hever, um, one comment that you made, uh, which is of interest to me is, the reference by these, uh, IDF soldiers to the use of prohibited weapons or munitions. I wonder could you recall, please, what weapons they considered inappropriate in the operation, Operation Cast Lead. Thank you.

Shir Hever

Uh, I am referring to the use of a phosphorous ammunition. But, uh, more, uh, specifically, I, I think, um, it’s not just the, the, the particular type of ammunition but also, uh, the relations between the type of ammunition, uh, used and the kind of targets. Uh, Israeli soldiers testified that they have used, uh, LAW missiles, which are, uh, which are, in fact, um, anti-tank, uh, missiles. And they used it against apartments where they saw, uh, people, uh, in the windows. So, basically, they – and, and they say this was, uh, um, specifically approved by their commanders. They didn’t give this testimony in any court. 
They didn’t give this testimony in, uh, in any, uh, official capacity but simply in, in conversations with other Israelis that they believed that they could speak freely and, uh, suffer no consequences, uh, for, for their testimonies. And then they said, we were encouraged by the Israeli officers to use anti-tank rockets or missiles against civilian housing where we felt, where we saw even the slightest movement, uh, without asking questions and without, uh, checking the target. So the use of, uh, a phosphorous ammunition, uh, by itself, uh, is a, is a perhaps a complicated, uh, legal issue. 
I am not an expert on, on international law. I understand that the Israeli army argues that this ammunition was only used for lighting. Uh, but there are reports by Palestinian, um, doctors from Gaza of burn victims that, uh, uh, refute the Israeli claim. I think you probably received, uh, uh, uh, were able to, uh, get, uh, better, uh, testimonies about this from, from people in Gaza, and, and you don’t need me for this. But the fact that the Israeli soldiers admitted this use of, of exaggerated force and the use of force against, uh, unarmed civilians, um, I think is important. Uh, especially it is important within the context that the Israeli public is aware, largely aware, uh, to the violations of human rights, uh, committed during the attack on Gaza. And even though the Israeli public is aware of it, there is, uh, an attempt to silence the discussion and, especially silence any kind of discussion in the repercussions of such war, uh, human rights violations.

Richard Goldstone

Thank you very much, Mr. Hever. Uh, we, we appreciate, as I said, your taking the trouble to speak to us. And I’m sure we benefited from, from the views you’ve expressed. Many thanks.

Shir Hever

Thank you very much.

Christine Chinkin

Thank you.
[Foreign speaking male] 

[Foreign speaking female] 

Richard Goldstone

I’d like to welcome both, uh, um, Mr. Pollack and Mr. Srour. Oh, okay. Is it both of them or is it just-
Female

Yes, it’s _____ _____ both of them.

Richard Goldstone

I apologize for the hitch. We were just having problems ending the video conference. Again, I’d like to welcome, um, Mr. Pollack and Mr. Srour to this, uh, to this hearing. Um, we are, are dealing with a, with, with an incident of the killing of Palestinians in the West Bank in the course of protests. And we’re going to hear first, Mr. Srour. I’m Richard Goldstone from South Africa, Ms. Hina Jilani from Pakistan, on my left, Christine Chinkins from the United Kingdom, on my, immediately on my right and, and Colonel Desmond Travers from Ireland. We’re the four members of the fact-finding mission set up by the United Nations. So if you would introduce yourself and tell us what, what you want us to know.

[Foreign speaking male] 

Mohamed Srour

Thank you. I am Mohamed Srour. I come from the Village of Ni’lin. Ni’lin is in Palestine in the, uh, in the West Bank. It is 28 kilometers west of Ramallah. I am married. I am 36 years old and I have three children. I learned – I was at the Abu Dis Jerusalem University where I was, uh, uh – also after that I was elected as mayor of Ni’lin in the elections of 2005. Today I work in the Ministry of Education. I am, uh, an administrative officer and a media officer in the Ni’lin committee to, uh, fight the wall. In fact, I would like to thank you, thank you very much, uh, for this public hearing. 
What we, uh, miss in, uh, as Palestinians is, uh, for our voices to be heard by the world. Our voices are very, uh, uh, uh, they’re unheard and our situation of the oppressed is a situation that is, uh, not at an equal footing. And the balance of power is not in our favor. We would like to thank the United Nations and we thank you, as a mission. 
We thank the media and we hope that the truth will reach the ears of the world. As the Hague Tribunal, uh, rendered an opinion against the wall as it being illegitimate. We hope that the fact-finding mission will also, uh, transmit to the world the truth, which is crystal clear. However, we do not want it to be like the Hague sentence that was never implemented until this very date. Ni’lin, like all other villages and cities in the West Bank, still witnesses, uh, the construction of the apartheid discrimination wall. 
I have come before you as an eyewitness. An eyewitness to a tragic story. This story is not the first and will not be the last. I wish to speak of a very, uh, uh, small story in relation to the tragedy of the Palestinian people. Speaking of the suffering of the Palestinian people can be very long and it is difficult to begin in any particular chapter. In spite of the fact that I am a witness to the stories of oppression against the Palestinian people and the Ni’lin village, in particular. I know full well that I will pay the price for this testimony when I return at Israeli crossing points and that in my journey of return after this hearing. 
Allow me to give you the picture regarding my village. Ni’lin is an economic village because it is adjacent to the occupied territories of 1948. Ni’lin, before the 1948 occupation, was, uh, related to, uh, Ramallah. And after 1948, it became part of Ramallah. Ni’lin had 58,000 dunams of land. It lost immediately after the 1948 occupation, 40,000 dunams. That is to say, over 70 percent of its lands. Then 8,000 dunams were lost due to settlements and the confiscation of land. This was not all. 
Then came the story of the apartheid wall and over 2,500 dunams were confiscated. This area is considered to be the only, uh, source of living for people; therefore, depriving ___ 100 families of their livelihoods is total. They have become refugees. Even though they are not really refugees. But have become like refugees. They have lost everything. And this led to an increase in the rate of unemployment because of the absence of an alternative source of living. 
This was not all. Therefore, this was not all. The story does not end there. There are also plans to make a tunnel in the eastern part of Ni’lin. These plans are to build a commercial crossing. And that would be at the expense of the territories of this village. Therefore, the Ni’lin, uh, surface area of 58,000 is down to 7,000 dunams, of which 6,000, uh, land that is not good for agriculture and it is under the [Area] “C” lands, the category “C”. And it is prohibited to construct in these sea areas. Only 1,000 dunams remain for residents. 
And this is, uh, a very small area that is overcrowded. Before this tragic situation, unemployment, deprivation, oppression and aggression, it became very clear and it also became very normal to protest against these Israeli practices and violations, against a people that has nothing. In a peaceful way their protestors protested with the presence of media and foreign and Israeli, uh, supporters. The demonstrations also included members of Parliament. And sometimes, uh, there were women protestors and children. 
We were surprised, and very unfortunately, that the Israeli soldiers confronted us and used teargas before our arrival at the wall area to protest against the bulldozers and the equipment, uh, that was uprooting olive trees before the eyes of, uh, the owners of this agricultural land. It is unfortunate that Ni’lin was used, was treated in unprecedented oppression and iron fist. We were, we, uh, had to fight for our livelihood. And in less than a year, there were five martyrs. Amongst them, two children. One of them was 10 years old. And the other was an orphan. His father and mother had died early.  

Richard Goldstone

I’m sorry. Could you just, uh, tell us what date this occasion was?  

[Foreign speaking male] 

Richard Goldstone
Could you give us the date of this incident? 
Mohamed Srour

The date of, uh, martyrdom of these two was after the, uh, events of Gaza on the 29th of December. And I was also injured alongside the two martyrs, one to my right and the other to my left. We must also refer to the fact that there were scores of, uh, wounded, included handicapped, disabled, those who lost their eyesight and others who were paralyzed due to the fact that, uh, their, uh, um, their, um, that their backbone was hit. 
So as I said, there were scores of wounded. Allow me to refer to the fact that the practices of the occupation after the Gaza war, in our peaceful demonstrations against the wall were much more violent and, uh, they did not care for the loss of life compared with the situation prior to the Gaza war. The two young men who died on the same day I was wounded, that was during the war against Gaza. A third martyr fell sometime later. 
This demonstration, as I said, took place during the war against Gaza. And we have an footage that we would like, uh, to show before my friend and brother, Jonathan, who is an Israeli supporter, before he speaks. And he was amongst those who carried me when I was injured in my arm and in my thigh. I shall stop here and I, uh, be happy to answer any of your questions or comments. We have total confidence in you and we wish you to show the world the truth. Thank you.

Richard Goldstone 

Thank you very much.

Christine Chinkin     
Thank you very much. Um, I’d just like to seek a clarification. Um, you were describing the village and the various practices in the village that caused protest. So, is the situation that there are many protests on different occasions that are peaceful protests? And then we come to the particular day when the war in Gaza was taking place. And that is the particular protest that we’re talking about when you got injured?

Mohamed Srour 

Yes. That is true. That is true. There were many demonstrations. Two martyrs fell before the Gaza operations. Let me, let me clarify the picture for you. Demonstrations took place, uh, in May 2008. The wall events starts in Ni’lin. There were two martyrs that fell before the Gaza war and three martyrs after the start of the war against Gaza.
[Foreign speaking male] 
Hina Jilani 
_____ kind of confrontation between the security forces and the demonstrators before the shooting, uh, started which resulted in the killing of two persons?

Mohamed Srour
This demonstration was like any other demonstration. These demonstrations always took place and were peaceful demonstrations, in which we carry flags and we carry, uh, uh, slogans against the apartheid wall, the illegitimate war. And as I said at the beginning of my testimony, uh, uh, we, we were surprised to find the, uh, Israeli forces, uh, throwing, uh, teargas at us and rubber bullets being used against us. And that to prevent us from reaching the wall area. Therefore, uh, there was, uh, uh, no care, whatsoever, uh, for human life. And there was, uh, wide media coverage, uh, and there was the presence of Israeli and foreign supporters and very high-level MPs. So it was very clear that this demonstration was a peaceful one.

Richard Goldstone
Thank you very much, Mr. Srour. Uh, I understand that there’s a video at this point that you would like us to, to view. Sorry?

Jonathan Pollack

There’s a small part in the video where the, where the person holding the camera says something in Arabic, uh, which I’ll translate to you as a – here.
(Video Footage)

Jonathan Pollack
The person holding the camera is saying, is saying, “Live, live, live.” That they’re shooting live. And then the person behind him said, uh, it’s not live. They didn’t think that it really was live ammunition. He’s saying, “They’re using blanks like they use to fly the rubber bullets but without the rubber bullets.” He said, uh, “If you notice, there’s not a single, uh, gas bomb used. There are no gas bomb used. It’s all live ammunition that they’re using.”
[Foreign speaking male] 

Mohamed Srour 

As you can see, the distance is very far. And the soldiers are _____ – here, this is my injury. This is me being injured. We’re speaking of the live bullet that hit my leg. This is the martyr, in less than a minute, immediately after me. All three of us were hit within minutes, one of the other. The soldiers were walking very calmly. There was no threat facing them while being this far away between olive trees. A direct hit in the chest. 
This Mohamed  Qassem al-Khawaja, a child hit in the head. This is the orphan that has lost his parents at an early age. His father had died, I believe, he was 44 years old. And his mother, also, she was 39 years old, which was, uh – they died of, uh, of cancer. This is the second martyr. Immediately after the first, he was hit directly in the chest. And these are, uh, supporters, foreign supporter who were there. 
Jonathan Pollack
The, the van was stopped from leaving the village. The van was stopped from leaving. They didn’t let us continue with the bodies. Uh, and an ambulance was at the entrance the whole time and was stopped from entering.

Mohamed Srour
The ambulance car was denied entry into the area and the other car has also been denied access out of the area.

Jonathan Pollack
The soldiers that are now standing there are the same soldiers that shot the two people. And they now came to this location. They returned to this location. Uh, before, before that there – these are soldiers and before that at the, at the checkpoint, uh, there were only border policemen.

[Foreign speaking male] 

(End of Video Footage)

Richard Goldstone
Mr. Pollack, would you introduce yourself?

Jonathan Pollack
Uh, my name is Jonathan Pollack. I’m an Israeli citizen. I live in Tel Aviv. I’m 27 years old,  and I work as a graphic designer in a newspaper. Uh, I’m sorry. This video is hard for me to, to watch. Um, the, the video does not start at the beginning of the demonstration. The demonstration began as a march, uh, in the main street of the village. Um, and was attacked when it reached, uh, near enough to the entrance for the border police detachment that was there to shoot, uh, to attack it with teargas. 
Um, a group of, the, the majority of the demonstrators dispersed at that point. And only a, a much smaller group, mostly, a few, composed of young people moved to the, to the right side, uh, in the olive trees where clashes, uh, where clashes erupted. That’s, that’s when, uh, that’s, that’s when the, the video starts. Um, in the, in the olive orchard, um, there was a different group of soldiers, not border policemen, um, who from the get go, uh, only used live ammunition. You could see in the video that not a single, um, teargas projectile or grenade is used. 
There’s absolutely no teargas. And you can hear the, the constant, um, shooting of live ammunition. Um, I sit, I stood a little, a little bit back when, when that happened, when that started. And I heard, um, the sound of live ammunition. Unfortunately, I have experienced, and it’s very easy to distinguish between the, the shooting of rubber bullets, uh, and, um, teargas and between live ammunition. 
The, the, the sound of live ammunition shot is much more hollow. When I realized that it is live ammunition that they’re shooting and that so much, uh, of it, I, uh, I advanced forwards to try and convince people to, to let people know, uh, that it is live ammunition that they’re shooting and that they should be worried. Uh, you can actually see me in the video greeting someone. When I told them that it’s live ammunition, they didn’t believe me. 
They said, “No, it’s just, uh, it’s just blanks that they’re shooting.” Um, “And they’re not going to shoot us.” It’s, uh, I mean, it should be made clear that what was happening was happening in an orchard right by the village. And that, uh, you can actually see the last house of the village, which is a, a chicken coop, uh, coop.  It is not anywhere near the, the construction site of the wall. Um, and obviously there was no threats to the lives of the soldiers. 
You can see in the video how calmly they walk around there, uh, where they are zoomed in, when the camera zooms into them. Um, and despite that, despite the fact that this is a, this was a clearly, um, a law enforcement situation and not a, a situation of armed hostilities; they used live ammunition very, very freely. I can state that dozens of rounds were shot there. Um, at some point, uh, I, I, um, I understood that it’s not going to help me to go from a person, from one person to another saying that it’s live ammunition. 
And I tried going, I, I ran back, um, as quick as I could and went around to another point, um, where some older men were standing. Mohamed, among them. Um, and I wanted to tell them to try and, and let the, the young people know that, that it’s live ammunition that they’re shooting. As I was nearing, um, Mohamed was shot. I was about, I don’t know, three or four meters away from him when he was shot. Um, and I knew immediately that it is live ammunition. I wasn’t sure where he was hit.  
Uh, but he grabbed his leg and I realized that it’s his leg. We grabbed him. Uh, at first he tried and walk. And I told him that, I, I said that we shouldn’t let him walk on the leg.  So we carried him. Um, and about, I don’t know, 15, 20, 30 meters after, um, shouts were, uh, there were shouts that another person was shot. Um, people said, call the, call the medics. Uh, there’s another person wounded. And, um, we put Mohamed on the ground. Some people stayed with him and I ran back immediately. 
Um, and then I saw Arafat Khawaja uh, being carried. And I, uh, I, there weren’t enough people carrying him. I, uh, his head was slinging back. Um, and I carried, I, I grabbed his, uh, head and my, um, hand was, was covered with his blood. Uh, he was shot in the back.  Um, he’s the third, he’s the second person you see carried but that was the second person to be shot. Um, I got to him and I looked back. And I saw Mohamed being shot – I saw Mohamed fall down. And people were shouting that another person, uh, was shot. 
Uh, that is the second person you see with the bloody face. Um, we, Arafat, we dropped Arafat on the floor by mistake. Um, and we weren’t, we weren’t far at all from Mohamed. And people grabbing him ran before, like ran and passed up. And I could see that his face was all bloody. And the wound was, uh, in the vicinity of his eye. I mean, I would say, at the moment, I thought that the bullet went through is eye. Uh, I’m, I’m not sure if that’s true. Um, they, they ran past us. And we continued carrying, uh, we picked up Arafat again and we continued carrying him, uh, to the, to the van. 
There was no, uh, there was no ambulance there because it was prevented from entering the village, uh, at the entrance, at the roadblock in the entrance. His blood kept gushing, uh, from, from this back and he, his legs, was, were a bit higher so it, it dripped, um, through the back of his head. He was shot, he was shot in the back. Um, which, I mean, I would tend to say murder because he was with his back to the soldiers and absolutely not endangering anyone. But, I assume, legally it can not be called murder, murder, uh, because we can’t prove intent. But in the least, it’s willful killing. 
Uh, no one next to him was, was shot. We, we put them on the van, um, and people were gathered around it.  I, I physically pulled people away from the van so it can drive. It turned back, back to the main road of the village where, as soon as the van got to a certain distance from the, from the roadblock, um, it was, um, it was stopped by the soldiers who could not have not seen, um, that there are two bodies lying there. 
Um, around that time, um, we also saw that the soldiers, uh, who, the, the soldiers who shot, um, Mohamed and Arafat, went back to the check, to the roadblock. Which means that their lives were absolutely not under threat at any point. But even if had they were under threat, they had a clear path to the roadblock where a very big contingent of, of security, uh, forces were present. Uh, and they could have gotten reinforcement at that point. Uh, I, I, I’d like to remind, it wasn’t a single shot made, shot in fear. They shot dozens of rounds there, rounds there. There were four or five soldiers. 
Uh, very easily identifiable because they were wearing white helmets that I’ve never seen that in the Israeli army. But they were wearing white helmets, like, they seemed like American helmets. Um, they stopped the van and, um, then tear gassed. They then started shooting teargas in this direction. Um, one of the medics, one of the medics ran to the soldiers and only then they let the ambulance in, take the bodies away from the van and, um, to the, and towards the hospital in Ramallah. Uh, Arafat was shot in the back, died on the spot. Um, it, Mohamed was shot in the head, was later, uh, pronounced, uh, clinically dead and died, uh, three days after. 
Um, the, the, the entire atmosphere of this incident, and to a very large extent, everything that, that happened afterwards to date, um, like following the war, during the war and following the war; is that all checks and balances on the army’s behavior have been removed. Um, I can’t tell you if the, um, uh, open fire regulation were, regulations were changed during the war and after. I, I don’t know because the Israeli army does not publish it, of, open, it’s open, open fire regulation. 
But what I can tell you is whether they were changed or were not changed, the behavior, the conduct of these soldiers and the border policemen towards demonstrators. Uh, and I’ve been, I’ve been to hundreds of demonstrations, in, in the past years. Um, has, had escalated to, uh, immensely. Um, it’s not, and it’s not that in the past the army was so gentle with us. Um, there’ve been, since the, during the war, they’ve started – it’s not only their conduct on the ground. They’ve also, uh, they’ve also started using new weapons at demonstrations during the war and after it. 
Um, they’ve started using an extended, uh, an extended range, uh, high velocity teargas projectile. Uh, that can, that I, we are, we are not certain yet, but I think that it’s original purpose is, uh, is a barricade breaker. It can, um, it’s self propelled. Uh, and it can, uh, it can fly for about 500 meters. Um, and it’s heavy. Um, and it’s, um, and because it flies so far, the only way for them to use it, uh, is to shoot it directly at the protestors. They can’t, uh, they can’t shoot it in an arched way because it would just reach, um, way, way too far. 
Um, so basically they have no way to, to use it in a, in a, in a way that does not seriously endanger the demonstrations. And, indeed, many demonstrations, demonstrators have been seriously injured by this, uh, um, by this, uh, projectile. Notably, an American demonstrator, uh, called Justin Anderson, who was shot with such a projectile from about 60 to 100 meters, uh, and suffered multiple condensed fractures, uh, to his skull and extensive brain damage. He’s still, uh, this was, uh, sometime mid-March. 
And he still, he still lies in the hospital, um, only semi-conscious. Um, another, another demonstrator was, uh, was shot dead with one of these canisters on, on April 17th in Bil’in in a, in a neighboring village. Uh, also shot directly in the chest, uh, with the, with such a canister, um, from about 30 to 40 meters. Um, another weapon that they’ve started using during the war, um, is, uh, they’ve started using snipers, uh, for crowd dispersal. 
Now, it, um, they, they use the, these snipers, uh, use, uh, .22 caliber, uh, ammunition. Initially they shot it from, um, um, from a suppressed, uh, 10/22 Ruger rifle. But now, uh, with the telescopic scope – but now they’re using, they’ve moved to using the same ammunition, uh, from an M4 carbine, uh, with a telescopic, uh, um, scope.  Uh, and with an adapter, uh, cartridge adapter for, so that it can use the point .22, um, um, bullets. 
Um, they’ve started using that during the war. Um, again, in, live ammunition in law enforcement situations where there’s absolutely no risk, um, of of, to, to the soldiers lives. In that period, 27 people, uh, in the Ni’lin alone, uh, were injured by sniper fire. Uh, and another person was killed, uh, by, by sniper fire in Ni’lin about four weeks ago, after he was shot in the chest. Uh, at that very demonstration where four weeks ago five different people were shot by a sniper, all of them in their upper body. 
Um, so this can not be referred to as just, uh, the behavior of these specific soldiers at this, this specific demonstration. Uh, during the war and ever since the, there’s great escalation. It’s, it’s almost as if it’s a free for all, um, for the soldiers to, to shoot whoever they want, um, and there are no repercussions. Um, three people have been killed in – four people have been killed in demonstrations against the wall in that period since the war, during the war and since. Um, and no one has been indicted for it, for that. 
There’s not a single indictment for that, for these shooting. Um, but, I, we can also, um, examine Israel’s, um, um, attitude towards freedom of speech, uh, even through what happened inside, uh, Israel’s recognized, internationally recognized borders and east Jerusalem. Because in the period of the war alone, uh, 715 people were arrested at demonstrations. Um, 238 of them were minors. Um, as a, uh, as of February this year, 255 indictments were filed for demonstrations during the war. About half, uh, for minors. Now these, these are numbers that the Israeli police gave out to human rights, uh, organization, um, on May 23rd. But they’re accurate for February 18th. So it is very likely that many more indictments were filed since then.  
Richard Goldstone


Mr. Pollack, can you give us some details of your background, what you do and why you were at the demonstration on that day?

Jonathan Pollack 

Um, well my profession, as, as, my profession is a, I work as a graphic designer. But that has nothing to do with why I was there.  Um, I was there because I believe in, in the struggle. I believe that they’re, that the people of Ni’lin, uh, are just, um, in saying that the wall should not be built on their lands. I think that is their right. I think that it is, uh, a violation of international law. Uh, and I think as an Israeli it is my duty to be there together with them, uh, and stand against my government. 
Because if I will not do it, uh, I will be, uh, uh, I will be part of it happening. Um, and I also thought that what Israeli was doing in Gaza, at the same time was, uh, horrendous. Uh, I thought it is a crime, um, and I thought that there is no better way to protest, to protest what Israel is doing, um, other than joining, um, joining Palestinians in protest, uh, against what my government was doing.

Richard Goldstone


Were, were you there at the beginning of the demonstration?

Jonathan Pollack
No, I was not at the beginning. Um, I, I arrived, uh, slightly late. Uh, I arrived, um, slightly before the demonstration was initially attacked.

Richard Goldstone


At the beginning of the film, one sees stone throwing and slings being used.

Jonathan Pollack
Yes, there was stone throwing. Um, I don’t think anyone will deny it. Uh, stone throwing begun after the demonstration was attacked.  Uh, as I said, that the, the film doesn’t show the beginning of the demonstration. Um-

Richard Goldstone

Were you there before the stone throwing began?

Jonathan Pollack
Yes.

Richard Goldstone


And what caused the, what was the cause of the stone throwing?

Jonathan Pollack
Uh, teargas assault. The border police detachment that was there, uh, attacked the demonstration with teargas.

Richard Goldstone


How many people were there in the demonstration?

Jonathan Pollack
Uh, 5,000 people live –  there are about 5,000 residents in Ni’lin. Um, the demonstration composed of, uh, I, I guess 300 people. But it was, it was broken up very quickly. Um, and at this situation, you can see there’s about, uh, 30 to 40 people maximum, um. And yes, there were stone throwing but you could, you could see in the video, uh, that the soldiers were not threatened by it. They were about 30, 30 meters away. 
Uh, there were two stone terraces, uh, between the, the, uh, between the demonstrators and the soldiers. So they were completely protected. You could see how, you, you could see yourself how freely they walked around. They were taunting us. Um, they were cursing at us.  They were, uh, they were, uh, laughing about what was happening in Gaza at the same time. This was the, uh, second day of the war, of the assault. And, and people were unbelievably, uh, angry.

Richard Goldstone


Where, where, where the demonstration? What is that area?

Jonathan Pollack
This is, this, that, uh, well the demonstration begun at the main, uh, main street of the village. Um, which is a Palestinian village and Israelis don’t go there, um, unless invited, uh, such as myself. Settlers, for example, don’t go there. You only go there if you want to go to that specific village.

Richard Goldstone
Who, who were the soldiers? Where were they-

Jonathan Pollack
Um, there’s a checkpoint nearby. But, uh, generally they’re, uh, I mean, it is in the West Bank, um, and this is a border police, it was a border police detachment. And, and also, at the, at the checkpoint there were, there was border police detachment. Uh, in the fields there were, there were, uh, soldiers. Uh, I can’t tell you if they were conscript or reserves. Um, but, so the demonstration begun at the main street, was attacked. 
Um, the majority of it was dispersed. We moved on. Uh, the people who stayed, moved on to the, to the orchard, orchard. Uh, and you can see it’s the last house of the villages. It’s very far away from the wall. They were not defending property. Um, and, and their, and their clashes started. And, uh, there were definitely stone throwing. Not very intense, uh, stone throwing, I may add.
Richard Goldstone
Just one last question for me. How, you, have you been to many demonstrations?

Jonathan Pollack
Hundreds.
Richard Goldstone


How was, how was this different to the way demonstrations were controlled or the reaction to demonstrations by the security, uh, uh, authorities prior to Operation Cast Lead?

Jonathan Pollack
I, I said before, I think the atmosphere was a, uh, free for all. Uh, the soldiers had absolutely they were, it, it felt like there’s nothing restraining them. Uh-

Richard Goldstone


And, but, but, was there difference before Operation Cast Lead?

Jonathan Pollack
I mean, they’re never very restrained. Uh, we’ve had in Ni’lin alone, in the last, in the half year before the assault on Gaza, there were two people, two minors killed. Uh, but it was nothing like that. Um, it is very rare, uh, that so much live ammunition would be shot. Uh, it, it, it doesn’t happen. Um, um, there’s, there’s a lot of use of, of rubber coated steel bullets. But, and sometimes, uh, they do, they do shoot live ammunition but nothing like that ever. Um, as I said, there’s that. 
There’s the, not only in this specific demonstration, there’s also there’s the usage of, of, new kinds of, of ammunition, of ammunition and, and weaponry. Um, there’s the, there’s the conduct of using, uh, snipers as a crowd control tool. Uh, this didn’t happen before the war. The war was the first time we saw both the extended range high velocity teargas projectile and the use of sniper.

Hina Jilani 

Mr. Srour, you were injured. Uh, when were you evacuated? We saw the bodies being evacuated. But, how and when were you evacuated? And were you taken to a hospital after that?

Mohamed Srour
I was evacuated immediately in less than a minute. Uh, I was vitally hit. I was vitally injured. So there wasn’t enough time or, uh, so, I was immediately injured and Mohamed al-Khawaja  and Arafat _____ were immediately injured. As I said, in less than a minute and I noticed that I was vitally hit. And I was not thinking that they would use live ammunitions, that they would be vitally hitting us. So very indiscriminately, the three of us were hit.

Colonel Desmond Travers
Thank you very much for your detailed, uh, account of the events. Uh, you seem to have a very good grasp of, uh, weaponry and material like that. Uh, does that arise from your military service in the past? Uh, that’s just an aside, really, but you can respond to it.  

Jonathan Pollack
______

Colonel Desmond Travers
Yes? Can you give me an answer?

Jonathan Pollack
No, I never held a gun in my life. Um, it’s, uh, it comes from my experience at demonstrations. Um, unfortunately, we have to deal with the law of weaponry. It, it keeps us safe to know what they are.

Colonel Desmond Travers
Yes. If I can follow, did you do military training?

Jonathan Pollack
No. I did not.

Colonel Desmond Travers
In that case, then, I have to ask you, how did you acquire information about the M4 carbine and the Ruger 22, Ruger sniper rifle?

Jonathan Pollack
Um, the, the Ruger sniper rifle, that’s actually interesting. Um, it’s an interesting story because, um, during the first intifada and, uh, the beginning of the second intifada, it was used as a crowd control, um, um, munition. Um, and then in late in 2001, the JAG, um,  reclassified it as lethal ammunition and forbid using it as a crowd control, um, measure. Um, and when, at first when they used it I didn’t know what it is. Uh, we took a picture of it and we went to the press. Uh, and a journalist was amazed that they’re actually using it because he exposed, well, his colleague exposed, uh, just a few years ago that this was forbidden, uh, by the army itself. 
Uh, the army itself classified it as a lethal weapon. And now they’re using it again to disperse demonstrations. Uh, and about the M4s, um, um, we, we just saw, um, that, um, we saw them using, um, M4s, which are very similar to M16s, as I’m sure you know. Um, and we didn’t understand. ‘Cause it almost, it seemed as if it almost, um, replaced, uh, the use of rubber bullets. Detachment, like, groups of soldiers would, uh, patrol, uh, and they wouldn’t have, uh, the rubber bullets in Israel are, um, are shot through this thing that they put on the, on the rifle. It’s a, I think it’s an Israeli invention, invention. 
Uh, and they didn’t have that. They, instead, they had a, a person with an, with an M4 and a telescopic scope. Um, and then we, um, we, we, um, regularly have photographers with us. Uh, and we looked at pictures and we noticed that the people holding the M4 has, the, the clips are much narrower than clips should be. And then we just made one plus one and we figured out that it’s actually, um, that it’s actually, uh, .22 bullets that they’re using on the M16. And that was verified by the army, um, through the press.  
Colonel Desmond Travers

(Off microphone)

Jonathan Pollack
What? What? I couldn’t hear. Sorry.
Colonel Desmond Travers
(Off microphone)

Female
The speaker use the microphone, please. The interpreter can’t hear.

Colonel Desmond Travers
Yeah, I’m sorry. Uh, uh, it’s still very intriguing because that caliber, as far as I’m aware, is only ever used for training and usually for indoor training firing. But, uh, I’m not an expert. I _____ expert-

Jonathan Pollack
Um, well-

Colonel Desmond Travers
Ammunitions-

Jonathan Pollack
Well, I’m definitely much less of an expert than you, I assume. But as far as I know, it was at the first intifada and at the beginning of this intifada, it was used as a crowd dispersal, uh, weapon. And it was also used by, um, Special Forces as, uh, hush puppy to, to silence dogs and things like that. Um, but, yeah, there’s no doubt that it shouldn’t be used as, for crowd dispersal.

Colonel Desmond Travers
Do you have any idea, at all, who these troops were? Or have you made any inquiries about the white helmets? I have never, uh, encountered such a, a, color arrangement in helmets in this part of the world.

Jonathan Pollack
Uh, I have no idea who these soldiers are. Um, and, um, I, I tell you the truth, it never mattered to me because for them the, it is not the, the specific soldiers who are important. It’s the, it’s the policy behind them. I, I don’t see it as an isolated, uh, um, incident. Um, and, and the soldiers that serve in demonstrations change, uh, quite often. Because it’s, it’s, it stretches over, uh, a long period of time, uh, and there are many, many soldiers involved. Um, but the, the policy, um, the policy is what important, not the specific solider who got his order. Uh, I mean, of course, I believe in accountability and personal accountability. But, the, the more important thing is, is who is their commander and who is their commander’s commander.

Christine Chinkin
Thank you very much for the detailed, and obviously very painful account to have to relive. I’m still a bit confused. I wonder if you can clarify for me, uh, about the different actions of the border police and then the soldiers. You said the border police were there first and threw teargas. Is that – or maybe you can just take us through the two separate-
Jonathan Pollack
(Off Microphone) 

Christine Chinkin
Right.

Jonathan Pollack
These are just, uh, just two, uh, adjacent but different locations. First, the demonstration was confronted by, by border policemen, who were positioned at the, uh, at the main street of the, of the village. They attacked the demonstration with, with vast amount of, amounts of teargas.  

Christine Chinkin
So that was _____ _____-

Jonathan Pollack
Yes, that was before the video started. And at its end, where the pickup truck goes – uh, that’s the main street. The soldiers you initially see there are border policemen. In the, in the, in the, uh, in the olive orchard, um, these were soldiers. Um, you can see they have different uniforms. Border policemens have, uh, darker, dark green, grayish uniform. Um, and soldiers have olive green uniforms. Um, so in the, in the orchard it was, it was soldiers. Um, and, and they, they, they only used live ammunition. Uh, now they later, uh, they later, near the end of the video you can see that there are also soldiers there. These are the same soldiers who were at the orchard and then they, uh, after, after everyone, uh, escaped the orchard, uh, the soldiers, uh, arrived at the checkpoint.

Christine Chinkin
Would you usually expect to have both border police and soldiers at a demonstration? I mean, who is the normal crowd control for-

Jonathan Pollack
Um-

Christine Chinkin
Demonstrations?

Jonathan Pollack
It’s not extraordinary. Um, usually, um, it, it, it’s, actually it depends on the period. Um, recently, it’s, um, and during that period too, it would usually be border police. But you have to understand that border police is, uh, sort of a para-military police unit that in the West Bank is under the command of the, uh, of the army.

Christine Chinkin
Oh, okay. So they are still separate from normal civilian police?

Jonathan Pollack
What, what? I couldn’t hear.

Christine Chinkin


The, the border police are still a different, um, institution arrangement from civilian police?

Jonathan Pollack
Yes and no. It’s a complex arrangement.

Christine Chinkin
Yes.

Jonathan Pollack
They are apart. They are policemen.
Christine Chinkin
Right.

Jonathan Pollack
Um, but they’re also combatant. And in the West Bank they’re, they have their own commander, commanders and their own regulations. They adhere to police regulations. They have, um, they are policemen. You know, they can ask, you know, they can arrest people but basically soldiers can too. But they are policemen. But, uh, they’re under the, the command of, of the, of the army ‘cause the army is the – basically the army in the occupied territory is, I’m sure you know that that army in the occupied territory is the, is the, uh, the ruler. Not the, I’m not sure of the exact English, legal term. Um, but, but there is military law in the West Bank. It’s, everything is under the army.

Christine Chinkin
Thank you.

Richard Goldstone


Mr. Pollack, do you, do you by any chance know who took the video?

Jonathan Pollack
What?

Richard Goldstone


Who shot the video?

Jonathan Pollack
Um, _____ de _____. A resident of Ni’lin. Thank you very much for – yes, Mr. Srour, you want to say something?
Mohamed Srour
Yes. What I want to say is that those who have shot the film is Mohamed Said Amira ____ and he covers many of these events. And when we, uh, came to give our testimony, we got to know that we have to tell the truth. And therefore, you have noticed that the stone throwing did happen. And we did not cut off this pictures. On the contrary, we didn’t bring in the beginning of the organization of this demonstration in the middle of the town, and which has, uh, uh, walked for about one third of a kilometer to the, uh – this is an important point. 
What I want to stress, I listened this morning to the testimony made by some Israelis, particularly the father of the, uh, uh, solider [Gilad Shalit], who is held by Hamas. I just would like to, if you would allow me, I’d like to, uh, to mention how many, uh, airplanes would we need to bring in the parents of thousands of detainees in Israeli prisons. I’ve also, uh, listened to the person who received an injury to her jaws. But I don’t know also, how many persons I can bring who have lost their whole bodies and all that remained of their bodies were their teeth. She lost her teeth and thank God she’s still alive. 
But I, I’m not justifying killing. Uh, I hope you do not misunderstand me. I’m not trying to justify killings. But I’m trying to say that the balance of power and, should be taken into account. And the difference in the number of victims should be taken into account by you, as a fair committee, so that you can arrange your priorities. And once more, I renew our thanks. Me and my colleague, we’d like to thank you for your efforts.

Richard Goldstone


_____ for, for coming.

Jonathan Pollack
Thanks for hearing us.

Mohamed Srour
Thank you very much. Welcome.

Richard Goldstone
We’ll, we’ll take a, an adjournment now because we have the, the last witness is speaking to us by video conference from, uh, from Ramallah. So we’ll adjourn now until 10 minutes after 5.
Male 1


Okay. Can you hear me now?

Shawan Jabareen 


I hear you well.

Male 1


Okay. Um-

Male 2 


We are ready to start.

Male 1


Yeah, it looks like we’re going to have to do it by audio only.

Richard Goldstone


Are, are you saying by, by audio only?

Shawan Jabareen 


Yeah, I hear you.

Male 2 


Can we try to dial in once again or is it impossible?

Male 1


Well, it’s, it’s disconnected about five, six times in-

Male 2 


Okay.

Male 1


It never stays more than a minute. So-

Male 2 


Okay. 

Richard Goldstone
Oh-

Male 2 

Then we will go by audio.

Male 1


We can try it.

Richard Goldstone


Mr. Jabareen, can, can you hear us?

Shawan Jabareen 


Yes, ____ _____. Yeah.

Richard Goldstone


Well, good afternoon and, and, and we’re now back in, uh, session. The last witness today, Mr. Shawan Jabareen, the director of Al-Haq, who is talking to us from Ramallah. Are we going to have his, him on screen again? Can you hear me, Mr. Jabareen? No? Can you hear me? We seemed to have lost the connection. Mr. Jabareen? Hi.

Shawan Jabareen


Yeah, yeah, ______. I hear you well.

Richard Goldstone


Well-

Shawan Jabareen


I hear you well. I hear you well.

Richard Goldstone


Right, well, good. Well, I, if I could introduce, uh, the members of our mission. I’m Richard Goldstone from South Africa, on my left is, uh, Hina Jilani from Pakistan, Professor Christine Chinkins from the United Kingdom, and Colonel Desmond Travers from Ireland. Um, you know why we’re here. And we, we, we would like you please to introduce yourself. Tell us briefly about Al-Haq. But tell, tell us particularly about the issue of freedom of movement on the West Bank. Over to you.

Shawan Jabareen


Allow me, at the outset to salute you all. I salute every one of you. I with to convey the feeling of all the victims in the occupied Palestinian territories. We are very hopeful in your mission.  

Female
We lost the voice and the quality of the voice was very difficult to interpret.

Male 2

At the moment, we will wait, maybe, for audio connection by telephone.

[Foreign speaking female] 

Male 2
Uh, no with _____ _____ turns off every ____, every five minutes. Here we are. But it’s, uh-

Female 

_______-

Male 4

Okay. You’re in the conference now.

Shawan Jabareen
First of all, with regards to Al-Haq, I do not want to speak at length about Al-Haq. But I can say that is the first human rights, uh, situation in the Middle East. Not only in the occupied Palestinian territories, it was established in 1959 and it works to enhance, uh, the rule of law in, uh, the occupied territories. On the other hand, uh, it works on the documentation of, uh, many forms of violations in the West Bank. Some are documented comprehensively and some are documented in a selective manner. The documentation aims at, uh, documenting all the, uh, forms of violations of human rights. This is what we do from the outset. And, therefore, there are many cases that are documented in a comprehensive manner, such as the killings, the home destructions, either, uh, for, uh, sanction or simply for, under the pretext that there is no permit for construction. 

On the other hand, we work on the, uh, procedure of deportation, uh, in a comprehensive manner. There are many, many cases that are documented in a selective manner. We can not pretend to be comprehensive, especially with regards to the movement, uh, restrictions. We believe movement restrictions, uh, are amongst, uh, the, uh, practices used by the occupation forces in the occupied territories. They take many forms and shapes. Also, what we can judge from the beginning and until now is that the movement restrictions are not linked to security reasons. There are political reasons behind such restrictions. 

Jerusalem, for example, in ’93, March ’93, there were checkpoints around Jerusalem. And Jerusalem was isolated on the pretext of Oslo. And that there were political objectives, uh, and thus, the inhabitants of the West Bank, uh, the rest of the West Bank were prevented from entering Jerusalem except, uh, with a special permit from the administrative authorities. Since then and until this day, uh, this procedure is, uh, used and that before even the building of the wall. The reasons for that are obviously political. Therefore, it has become almost impossible for the Palestinian from other cities of the West Bank to reach Jerusalem without this permit. Obtaining this permit is not an easy matter. Uh, it is not an administrative decision, in fact. It is a very complex procedure. 

We can say that the majority of the West Bank inhabitants and the Gaza Strip do not obtain the permit to enter Jerusalem. The Israelis have determined the entry of Jerusalem for purely humanitarian reasons. And even these humanitarian reasons, such as health reasons, uh, Jerusalem has the only eye, uh, optometry hospital. And, uh, uh, patients are not allowed access. And here, not only the youth or men, but even women, uh, and the elderly are prevented, uh, from entering, be they men or women and sometimes children. Sometimes we do not know what the criteria used are. We, uh, I’m not saying that they never give permits. But the permits given are a rarity. 

This prohibits, uh, the Palestinians from entry and therefore, they have to use alternative means of entering Jerusalem for treatment, especially that there are certain medical specialties in Jerusalem that are not to be found in other West Bank cities. This is a form and we have documentation on such cases. Even when one receives a permit and Israel declares closure of its borders or the closure of Jerusalem, uh, even those with a permit can not access Jerusalem. Such declarations are sometimes made. They would say the West Bank is a closed area. And we don’t know why. There are no reasons. 

On the other hand, movement outside the West Bank – Israel controls the, uh, crossing points since the beginning of the intifada, Palestinians are prevented from using, uh, Tel Aviv or Ben Gurion Airport in order to travel outside the West Bank. Prior to that, we needed a permit and certain procedure. But since the intifada and until this day, the Palestinian is not allowed to go, uh, to, uh, Tel Aviv to travel abroad. They can only travel through Jordan. And that crossing point is under the control of Israel. 

And there are tens of thousands of Palestinians who are prevented from travel through Jordan. The pretext that is given, uh, in general is that, uh, it is a security matter. And we don’t know what security is. It is, uh, what is the danger against security? For example, if somebody wants to attend a conference by the United Nations, such as your public hearing today. This is, uh, prohibited for many Palestinians, be they students, women, employees, men, uh, human rights activists. And therefore, this includes virtually everybody. Uh-

Richard Goldstone
Uh, uh, Mr. Jabareen, perhaps you can tell us about your own position. Uh, we had hoped that you would come to Geneva to speak to us here. But if you could explain why that was not possible, I would be grateful.

Shawan Jabareen 

Even though, in general, I prefer to speak about the cases of others and not my own, nevertheless, I shall oblige. I am prohibited from travel and that since 2006. Since I became the director of this institution, I was prevented from travel. Israelis say that, uh, there are security reasons and a secret file. I do not know what this secret file is. Uh, Ms., uh, ______, I believe, has attended the hearings of a tribunal that prevented my travel here. I mean, the Israeli, the supreme Israeli court. Nevertheless, I was prevented from travel. There is a travel ban against me. But they say I am dangerous for security. I don’t know how I’m, uh, going to be dangerous in Geneva and not in Ramallah. Nevertheless, my personal view is that this is a form of punishment. 

Uh, restrictions on movement, uh, inside Israel and the occupied territories is part of the, uh, punishment used against the people. Uh, for example, one could, uh, be, um, encouraged to become a collaborator and they use arbitrary procedures to obtain that. So, for example, students who want to go to their universities aboard, when they come for, uh, summer, uh, vacation to see their relatives in the occupied territories, when they attempt to leave again, they are prevented. And, uh, they are pressured to become collaborators and to work with the Israeli intelligence service. On the other hand, they try to use political blackmail and they also try to make one feel that he has no future in the occupied territories. So they seek a future abroad. And therefore, the person may leave with his family. 

You can imagine that my case, for example, in 2004 when I applied to travel to Ireland, uh, to, uh, finish my, uh, MA degree in international law; the intelligence, uh, suggested to me, through my lawyer, to travel for five years. That is to say, that I don’t understand what the security reasoning is behind that. Be it for five years, three years or one day; I don’t understand. They want me to leave so as not to come back. 

And therefore, after I traveled they want me to call on my family to join me. This is my, uh, interpretation to these practices. I, uh, this might not be an objective interpretation but through what I have seen, uh, this is what I, my view is. And I defy the Israeli side to, uh, prosecute the people that they say are a security threat. If I am a security threat, so they can come and investigate and they can, uh, try me. But this has to be a fair trial in accordance with all legal procedure guarantees. I defy them to do that. They, um, use this as a weapon so that one loses hope in his, uh, nation, in his land. They want a person to hesitate before saying anything or before, uh, for example, coming before your mission. I would have liked to be with you. I wish I had been able to go to Holland to receive the, uh, Dutch Human Rights Award in March. 

However, this did not happen. I believe that the only, uh, justification is that I am not the only one in this case and I won’t be the last, especially with regards to travel bans. This includes thousands of Palestinians today. Be they women or children, students, businessmen, uh, people seeking treatment aboard, there are many, many people who need treatment in Jordan or abroad. And they are prevented from leaving under the pretext of security. I believe that the Israeli intelligence is controlling all the details of the life of the Palestinian person. Travel and restriction on movement is the basic weapon that is used against the population. 

And as and example, a person who, uh, tried, uh, to go aboard for work, uh, be it in, uh, Israel or in the settlements, is prohibited from that except with a permit. And the matter of receiving the permit is almost impossible. Therefore, workers seek other forms, uh, to, uh, be able to reach their, uh, workplaces. I tell you, before coming here I went to Hebron, from Jerusalem to Hebron to, uh, participate in the funeral of one of my relatives. 

During my trip from Ramallah to Hebron, there are two checkpoints on, on the road. That, in addition to the mobile checkpoints. When I say check, mobile, I mean, a military car that would suddenly make a checkpoint and stop the people and the cars. They stop them for an hour or two or three. Uh, but there are two fixed, uh, checkpoints. The road took me about two and a half hours. However, had Jerusalem been open, it would take me only 40 minutes. No more than 40 minutes. 

During this trip, the soldiers stopped the cars. I mean, tens of cars. They look in the car. They don’t search the car. They don’t talk to the passengers. They only stop them without any reason. You don’t know why. And this is done, uh, all the time. During this trip, one of the people standing, uh, on the road asks me to take him along. And I did. I took him with me in the car. And he told me he was going – here from my trip back from Hebron – he told me he was going to Jerusalem. That he is a worker. 

And he said, “I don’t have a permit but I’m trying to go there.” And he said – “How do you go there,” I asked him. “They said there’s a rope that we throw over the wall. And there are people on the other side that help us scale the wall and come down.” He told me that he was detained the previous month and that he was beaten very violently. 

Nevertheless, he has no other means of living except to try and go. His brother was detained the previous week. 

He was fined 1,000 shekels and was sentenced for two years. Uh, these are all examples. We, in Al-Haq, we document hundreds of, uh, of, cases because there is a restriction of movement. Nevertheless, we need to win our bread. During the aggression against, uh, Gaza, these practices were increased. And that, in the, in the following manner. For example, the person who is stopped at the checkpoint stays for longer period of time and movement from one place to another has become much more difficult. 

I wouldn’t say it’s impossible. But within one month, uh, after the, uh, war against Gaza on, on, the third of January, the eighth of January and the ninth and tenth of January; the Israelis announced the closure of the West Bank. That means that the permits issued for people working are, and the people who are given permits for hospitalization in Jerusalem, are not longer valid. This is what happened during the war. The second thing, uh, in the West Bank there are thousands of persons coming from Gaza Strip.

Male 2


_______, apparently we have lost the, the audio connection. Uh, we will try to establish the connection again. Uh – we don’t know why the disconnection happened. We’ll take about 5 to 10 minutes to establish the connection. So we will have to wait a little bit.

Richard Goldstone


We, we’ve got an option to take a 5 or 10 minute break. But we’ll begin as soon as we get the connection. Because I think we have to be out of this room by 6.

Richard Goldstone
Okay.

Male 2
Yeah, we have the audio connection back. Can, can he speak? The gentleman from Ramallah? Can we hear you?

Male
Yeah, okay. I will also try.

Male 2
Okay. We can proceed.

Richard Goldstone
Mr. Jabareen, I’m pleased we can see you again.

Shawan Jabareen
Can you hear me?

Female
He is asking.

Richard Goldstone


I can hear you and see you.

Shawan Jabareen
That’s great. The last point was the persons coming from, uh, Gaza Strip and who are married, uh, at the West Bank. Uh, I, I have one document that I will be mailing to you very soon.

Female
The line was cut off.

Male 2
Can we try again with the audio line? Hello? Have you also the audio line now?

Shawan Jabareen
It could be another electronic barrier, in addition to the road barriers. I don’t know whether this is – what is happening. But what I wanted to say, I have a document issued by the Israeli defense ministry that was conveyed to the Israeli high court regarding the criteria governing the entry to the West Bank or to residents in the West Bank. So the objective is to isolate the Gaza Strip from the West Bank. The, uh, the only exception is the health, uh, conditions-

Female
The quality of voice is very bad. We can hardly hear the speaker. 

Shawan Jabareen
The second point in this document, which is an official document issued by the high court, they do not acknowledge the family relations even for humanitarian reasons. They don’t acknowledge it. 

Female
The sound of the quality of sound is very poor and the interpreters find it extremely difficult to interpret the speaker.

Male 2
Can we have the audio only, please? Because that went very well for awhile. No video dial-in. Just audio.

Female
Uh, we-

Male 2
We can hear you very badly. Can you use the telephone line? Just audio because it’s interrupting every two or three minutes.

Female
Yes, you can call him on his mobile.

Male 2
Let’s continue in the meantime. But, please very slowly, uh, speaking.

Female
Um-

Richard Goldstone


Please, please carry one Mr. Jabareen. We, we can-

Female

If you want to speak in English, directly, that’s alright.

Male 2
Hello? Can we continue just in English? Can we use just the telephone connection?

Female


Okay, ______ _____-

Male
I don’t have him here with me. He is in a different room. Okay. Perfect. _____ this line.

Male 4

Okay. Go ahead, please.

[Foreign speaking male] 

Male 2
You can go ahead.

Male 4

Okay. You can go ahead now.

Female
In Arabic?

Shawan Jabareen
To save time, uh, I will send you tomorrow this official document submitted by Israel to the Israeli high court that defines the criteria that govern any movement from Gaza to the West Bank and vice versa. And which proves that it almost impossible. On the other hand, I wish to add that are thousands of Gaza citizens and, uh, they have, uh, relatives in the West Bank who died. And they were never able to take part in their funerals. 

And they are not allowed to go to Jordan. And they are really faced with, uh, severe conditions. And the, the, the people of, uh, the West Bank can go to Jordan in a, a much easier way than going to Gaza. So the ________ have been, uh, isolated. And that is also the, the, the issue of the, uh, wall and they have, uh, certain gates in this wall. And, uh, for those people who live next to the wall, uh, they can use, uh, those gates that are, that have a certain opening hours and they close at a certain hours. 

And, uh, these new, uh procedures, even for those who are under the 12 years of age, they, these procedures are imposed on all, uh, members of the family. For those who are living outside of the village, that is next to the wall, can not go to visit his family, even if he were a member of the family. And if he asks for a permit, he wouldn’t get this permit. There is also, there are also certain gates for landowners that are, uh, in the proximity of the wall. And, uh, they can get through the gates for certain hours. And, uh, many of those gates have been closed for quite some time, which means that farmers can not get to their lands next to the wall. 

And the harvest, uh, seasons, uh, are, uh, gravely affected. We can not, for example, if, if I have a research worker in human rights, he can not pass through this wall. That is also – there are many of those gates in the West Bank that are being administered and managed by, uh, private, uh, security companies. Number one, they are dealing with the, with the people and some of them are being managed by, jointly, by the authorities and by private, uh, security companies. The soldiers – and other gates there are only soldiers. 

Those _____ has had a political connotation in the sense that they constitute some kind of borders. The Israelis intent to use this terminology on the gates around Jerusalem or in other places around Jerusalem, there is, are now new measures, as I said. The person who obtains a permit has to go through one specific gate and he can not get to Jerusalem using any other gate. He has to use a specific gate. 

And, uh, this, uh, permit should be accompanied by a magnetic card, which is put in a specific machine at the checkpoint. And it determines the name of the person and the manner by which he can go through, uh, so to ensure, until his exit from Jerusalem. This complicates matters much more. In the case of patients, you know they have to walk four kilometers in mountainous roads. That’s, that’s if you do succeed at arriving at a hospital in Jerusalem. Uh, uh, so, uh, there is, uh – this is, in general, the problems concerning travel. 

You can imagine – and we do have some documents, which we can, uh, provide you with. Some families who live behind the, uh, separation wall, and there are some study in schools which are on the other side of the wall, that is the schools in the West Bank, the so called West Bank. And some, uh, children, the first primary grades, they have to, uh, uh, they have to, uh, climb the wall, you know, using a rope. And you see the children on Thursday; they go back to their families in, uh, in, in Jerusalem. 

And then in order to go back to their schools they have to climb a wall, which is about 9 or 10 meters high. And they expose their lives to many risks. And they may be exposed to being fired at by the soldiers. I’m speaking about school children who have to use these methods. We do have, uh, uh, written documents concerning this, uh, barriers. The children may have to stay behind the wall for five days in order to be able to rejoin their family, their, uh, bigger family, the greater family. 

Not the – but like, uh, to be able to reach their aunts and uncles. So they have to wait for five days until they’re able to go back to their schools. And then they can join their families by climbing, you know, the wall. These, uh, many people, uh, suffer from the, uh, uh, restrictions on the freedom of movement, especially the workers. The workers who try to enter without permit because Israel refuses to give them any permits. 

Uh, another problem concerning freedom of movement is the, in some streets Palestinians are not allowed to use these roads at all. They are uniquely for the use of Israelis or foreigners only. There is the road which links Jerusalem with Tel Aviv and which is used for, um, uh, the benefit of the inhabitants of Ramallah. It serves 33 villages. And Palestinians are not allowed to use it. If Palestinian is found on such a road, whether he’s a pedestrian or he’s riding his car; he is not only given an, a penalty but he may be arrested and imprisoned. 

So much for the freedom of movement restrictions. You noticed that the Palestinians have to walk long distances, until they are able to visit, uh, the relatives. Uh, I will just give you an example. There is a village called ______, which is, uh, about half a kilometer away from ______ Ramallah. That’s about two minutes by car or 10 minutes walking. The Israelis have, uh, banned the passage of Palestinians there. It’s, because there is a settlement nearby. 

And therefore, the Palestinian now is obliged to use, uh, a road, which is, uh, 55, 35 kilometers long. That’s so it would take him 45 minutes in order to cover a distance, which is only 500 meters. This, you will find, a repetition of this example in many places in the West Bank. This is because of the roads in which Palestinians are, which Palestinians are not allowed to use. These roads serve only Jews, serve only settlers. In the West Bank settlements is the real problem of restriction of movement. 

It prevents the freedom of movement. Uh, travel restrictions is another subject. You can imagine that a person who marries in Jerusalem, he can not go to bring his bride or to join his family. And the family of the bride or the family of the bride-groom, he may have to bring the bride or the bride-groom across the barrier so that the two couples may be able to meet. These are very few example of what happens in daily life. Uh, so, uh, freedom of movement and freedom of travel are not only, uh, uh, linked to the problem of rising costs but also they are linked with, uh, humanitarian and psychological problems, problems of family relations. 

Uh, and you can imagine that so many people are unable to go and celebrate the feast, for instance, for Muslims and Christians. Uh, religious feast are very important. And still they are unable to rejoin their families on such occasions because some of them, uh, live in, uh, Jerusalem. Others live in other towns. This is part of the problem of freedom of movement. During the attack on Gaza, these restrictions were further strengthened. They existed before the attack. And they still continue. The objective is political. But during the attack on Gaza, these restrictions became more severe. 

So there are now more ____ barriers, uh, uh, movement restrictions. Many people who used to carry permits, their permits were canceled. And some of these people are, uh, ill, sick and ill people. And they were banned from seeking treatments. So this is the general picture as regards, uh, movement restrictions, uh, using the, uh, ______ bridge. I do not have specific figures or statistics. Uh, so I can not tell you that during the attack there are – but I can tell you that during the attack on Gaza, restrictions have been further strengthened along this bridge. 

But, uh, this is a measure, which is still ongoing. The Israelis have some, uh, uh, names on the black list. These people who are blacklisted are banned from traveling. As I said, there is, uh, secret files are kept and security files are kept secret. This is, in general, uh, the problem of movement restrictions. I have many other examples. But I hope if you have any questions, I would be ready to listen to your questions and to answer or give any clarifications that you seek. Thank you.

Richard Goldstone
Mr. Jabareen, thank you very much for your very concise and, and, and yet full, uh, full report. You’ve given us a very good idea. I think a number of the facts were known to us but it’s very good to get a more full picture of the restrictions and, uh, and the problems associated with it. May I say we regret very much that you were not able to join us in Geneva, uh, today. I’ll, I’ll ask my colleagues if they, if there are any questions.

Hina Jilani
Just a very quick question, if you can answer that. Um, I’m interested in knowing that while the, uh, in Gaza the military operation was going on; what was the, the reaction of the people in West Bank with regard to, to fears about their own security? Did that create any kind of a panic in the general Palestinian population in the West Bank? Uh, uh, were there any security concerns they had for their own safety?

Shawan Jabareen
Actually, in general, the, uh, people in the West Bank, uh, uh, were leading a normal life in the streets. They were following up the news and following up the television screens with feelings of, uh, pain. But on their level of possibility of movement, uh, on the, as I said, uh, there were restrictions, movement restrictions between the different towns. And there was great fear on the part of the people of the, uh, uh, possible Israeli military operations and detention and arrests. 

So this problem continued. I – during this period the, uh, detentions were intensified. The rate of detentions by Israel has reached 15 persons. Really, this is just a rate. This rate could be higher or lower. But this is the average. Uh, during the Gaza operation the problem was wider. This, uh, daily, uh, rate has exceeded 25 persons. So, the, this was the feeling which prevailed among the, uh, population of the, uh, of the West Bank.

Richard Goldstone


Well, Mr. Jabareen, there seem to be no further questions. So we’ll, again, thank you very much. We, we regret, too, the breakdown in the, in the line. And, and we’re very grateful for your patience and, and, and we wish you well. Thank you very much.

Christine Chinkin
Thank you.

Shawan Jabareen
I would like to thank you for your effort. And one day justice will prevail, prevail. And thank you very much for your efforts.

Richard Goldstone


We’ll, we’ll now adjourn for the day. We’ll resume the second day’s hearings, here in Geneva, tomorrow morning at 10. The meeting is now closed.
